IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BANNING RANCH CONSERVANCY, Plaintiff and Appellant,

SUPREME COURT FILED

v.

NOV 10 2015

CITY OF NEWPORT BEACH, et al., Defendants and Appellants,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy/

CRC

NEWPORT BANNING RANCH LLC, et al., Real Parties in Interest and Appellants.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE [4th Civil No. G049691]

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LEIBOLD McCLENDON & MANN, P.C.

*John G. McClendon (SBN 145077)
John@CEQA.com
Douglas M. Johnson (SBN 297582)
Douglas@CEQA.com
9841 Irvine Center Drive, Suite 230
Irvine, California 92618
(949) 585-6300
(949) 585-6305 (fax)

ISSUES PRESENTED

In petitioning this Court for review of the Court of Appeal's decision,

Petitioner and Appellant Banning Ranch Conservancy ("Conservancy")

identified the following questions for review:

- 1. California's Coastal Act accords extraordinary protection to environmentally sensitive habitat areas ("ESHA") within the 1.5 million-acre Coastal Zone. Is an ESHA determination a *legal* determination that a local government cannot make under the Coastal Act if it lacks a local coastal plan?
- 2. May a local government reject an offer from the California

 Coastal Commission to assist in identifying ESHA that might be impacted by a proposed project within the Coastal Zone?
- 3. May a city or county incorporate a specific policy in its general plan to fully mitigate the environmental impacts of a future project and later refuse to implement that policy in a way that effectuates it purpose?
- 4. May a local government purge from its files empirical evidence showing a proposed project within the Coastal Zone will impact ESHA and not mention that evidence in the environmental impact report it prepares for the project?

Refining these, this Court announced this action presents three issues:

- 1. Did the City [of Newport Beach]'s approval of the project at issue comport with the directives in its general plan to "coordinate with" and "work with" the California Coastal Commission to identify habitats for preservation, restoration, or development prior to project approval?
- 2. What standard of review should apply to a city's interpretation of its general plan?
- 3. Was the City [of Newport Beach] required to identify environmentally sensitive habitat areas as defined in the California Coastal Act of 1976 (Pub. Resources Code § 30000, et seq.) in the environmental impact report for the project?

INTRODUCTION

No laws do more to protect California's coastline than the California Environmental Quality Act [Pub. Res. Code § 21000 et seq.: "CEQA"] and the Coastal Act of 1976 [Pub. Res. Code § 21000 et seq.: "Coastal Act"]. And key to this protection is the restriction the latter act places on development in "environmentally sensitive habitat areas," or "ESHA," by protecting these areas from any disruption.

In Banning Ranch Conservancy v. City of Newport Beach (2012) 211
Cal.App.4th 1209, 1233-1234 ("BRCI"), Division Three of the Fourth District
Court of Appeal held the analysis of a proposed project by the City of Newport

Beach ("City") was sufficient because it acknowledged areas having the potential to be considered ESHA by the California Coastal Commission ("Coastal Commission"). In Banning Ranch Conservancy v. City of Newport Beach (2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 1341 ("the Opinion"), that court significantly extended BRC I by holding local governments do not have to make even this acknowledgment because an ESHA determination is a legal conclusion only the Coastal Commission can make. In so holding the Opinion rejected the Second District's holding in Douda v. California Coastal Com. (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 1181 ("Douda"), which held the Coastal Act allows ESHA designations to be made by either a local agency or the Coastal Commission.

The Opinion also rejected the Third District's holding in California Native Plant Society v. City of Rancho Cordova (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 603 ("Native Plant"), that when a general plan policy directs "coordination" with federal and state resource agencies it has real meaning. (Opinion, at p. 26.) Finally, the Opinion repudiated several fundamental CEQA principles. This Court's review is thus needed to (1) resolve the conflict between the Opinion and Douda by explaining whether the determination of ESHA is a legal determination only the Coastal Commission is empowered to make; (2) decide whether the Coastal Act mandates cooperation between local governments and the Coastal Commission on identifying ESHA in EIRs for projects within the Coastal Zone; (3) resolve the conflict between the Opinion and Native Plant;

(4) settle important issues of law fundamental to CEQA; and (5) determine what standard of review should apply to a city's interpretation of its general plan.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Banning Ranch

Located in the western-most portion of the City, Banning Ranch lies less than a quarter mile from the Pacific Ocean and is bordered on the north by a 180-acre nature preserve, on the south by West Coast Highway and residential communities, on the east by residential and industrial units, and on the west by the Santa Ana River and a 92-acre federally restored salt marsh basin. (Administrative Record ["AR"] 4:3180-3184.)¹ Approximately 53 acres are within the City's boundaries and 361 acres are under the jurisdiction of Orange County. (AR 10:22881, 26051.) However, the 361-acre portion is mostly "inside" the City since it is within the City's "sphere of influence" and surrounded by a one-foot strip of City land, making it an unincorporated "island" within the City. (Id.) Banning Ranch is the largest parcel of unprotected coastal open space remaining in Orange County. (AR 10:15855.)

Since the mid-1940s most of Banning Ranch has been a producing oilfield with hundreds of wells (most now abandoned) and related

Citations to the 49,046-page electronic Administrative Record are in the following format: "X:Y" where "X" is the file number (1–10) and "Y" is the page number.

infrastructure and facilities. (AR 4:3180; 5:4518.) Although it has experienced disturbance due to oil production operations, "Banning Ranch contains relatively high-quality wildlife habitat due to its size, habitat diversity, and continuity with the adjacent Semeniuk Slough and federally-restored wetlands." (*Id.*; AR 10:23010.) The property contains riparian and wetland habitat with a broad variety of vegetation types providing habitat for state and federally listed endangered and threatened species, "supports several special status plants and wildlife species," including "substantial populations of southern tarplant," and the coastal cactus wren and federally listed coastal California gnatcatcher are present on the site. (AR 4:3180; 9:14041 [map].)

In 2003, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service designated the entirety of Banning Ranch as "critical habitat" for the California gnatcatcher, and in 2007 also designated fifteen acres of "vernal pool complexes" as "critical habitat" for the federally endangered San Diego fairy shrimp. (*Id.*; AR 3:1256, 1825; 9:14342, 14352; 9:15864, 15859, 15863, 10:46338.) Its unique critical habitat supporting endangered and threatened species makes Banning Ranch highly important and desirable as mitigation for the loss of habitat resources from development elsewhere especially because it is "located within the boundaries of the county's Central-Coastal Natural Community Conservation Plan/Habitat Conservation Plan." (AR 3:3171.)

B. The California Coastal Act and "ESHA"

In 1972, California voters approved the Coastal Zone Conservation Act (Proposition 20), creating temporary commissions to develop a statewide plan for coastal protection. (AR 10:32959-32960; Marine Forests Society v. California Coastal Commission (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1, 18-19.) This plan was submitted to the Legislature in 1975, and led to the passage of the California Coastal Act of 1976, which established a State agency - the California Coastal Commission ("Coastal Commission") - charged with protecting and enhancing the resources of the Coastal Zone mapped by the Legislature. (Id.; Pub. Res. Code § 30000, et seq.) The Coastal Act establishes policies guiding development and conservation along California's coast, and its intent is to "[p]rotect, maintain, and where feasible, enhance and restore the overall quality of the coastal zone environment and its natural and artificial (Id.; Pub. Res. Code § 30001.) Through its review of resources." development plans, the Coastal Commission strives to "[a]ssure orderly, balanced utilization and conservation of coastal zone resources, taking into account the social and economic needs of the people of the state." (Id.)

By law the Coastal Act must "be liberally construed to accomplish its purposes and objectives." (Pub. Res. Code § 30009; *Bolsa Chica Land Trust v. Superior Court* (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 493, 506 ("*Bolsa Chica*") ["under both the Coastal Act and CEQA: 'The courts are enjoined to construe the

statute liberally in light of its beneficent purposes. [Citation.] The highest priority must be given to environmental consideration in interpreting the statute [citation]."].) One of those key purposes and objectives is "providing heightened protection" to what are called environmentally sensitive habitat areas ("ESHA"). (Id.) Section 30107.5 of the Coastal Act defines ESHA as "any area in which plant or animal life or their habitats are either rare or especially valuable because of their special nature or role in an ecosystem and which could be easily disturbed or degraded by human activities and developments." The consequences of land having ESHA on it are delineated in section 30240 of the Coastal Act:

- (a) Environmentally sensitive habitat areas shall be protected against any significant disruption of habitat values, and only uses dependent on those resources shall be allowed within those areas.
- (b) Development in areas adjacent to environmentally sensitive habitat areas and parks and recreation areas shall be sited and designed to prevent impacts which would significantly degrade those areas, and shall be compatible with continuance of those habitat and recreation areas.

"Thus development in ESHA areas themselves is limited to uses dependent on those resources, and development in adjacent areas must carefully safeguard their preservation." (*Bolsa Chica*, at 506-507.)

To assure conformity with the Coastal Act, local governments lying in whole or in part within the Coastal Zone must prepare and submit to the

Coastal Commission a local coastal plan ("LCP") consisting of a coastal land use plan ("CLUP") plus zoning and other implementing actions. (Pub. Res. Code §§ 30108.5, 30108.6; *Yost v. Thomas* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 561, 566.) This submittal can be done in two phases, with the CLUP submitted first for approval. (*Id.*; Pub. Res. Code § 35011.)

C. The City's CLUP and ESHA

The City elected to submit for its LCP in two phases and obtained approval of its CLUP from the Coastal Commission in 2005. (AR 4:3260-3261.) The CLUP establishes goals, objectives and policies that govern the use of land and water in the City's Coastal Zone. (*Id.*) With regard to ESHA, the CLUP establishes the following policies:

"Policies 4.1.1-1. Define any area in which plant or animal life or their habitats are either rare or especially valuable because of their special nature or role in an ecosystem and which could be easily disturbed or degraded by human activities and developments as an environmentally sensitive habitat area (ESHA). Using a site-specific survey and analysis by a qualified biologist, evaluate the following attributes when determining whether a habitat area meets the definition of an ESHA:

- A. The presence of natural communities that have been identified as rare by the California Department of Fish and Game.
- B. The recorded or potential presence of plant or animal species designated as rare, threatened, or endangered under State or Federal law.
- C. The presence or potential presence of plant or animal species that are not listed under State or Federal

law, but for which there is other compelling evidence of rarity, such as designation as a 1B or 2 species by the California Native Plant Society....."

(AR 3:1242-1243.) The City's CLUP further entitles ESHA to protections such as:

- "4.1.1-4. Protect ESHAs against any significant disruption of habitat values.
- 4.1.1-6. Require development in areas adjacent to environmentally sensitive habitat areas to be sited and designed to prevent impacts that would significantly degrade those areas, and to be compatible with the continuance of those habitat areas.
- 4.1.1-7. Limit uses within ESHAs to only those uses that are dependent on such resources.
- 4.1.1-9. Where feasible, confine development adjacent to ESHAs to low impact land uses, such as open space and passive recreation."
- (Id.) Most important, when habitats meeting the definition of ESHA occur, the City's CLUP states "the presumption is that they are ESHA and the burden of proof is on the property owner or project proponent to demonstrate that that presumption is rebutted by site-specific evidence." (AR 3:913.)

"[D]ue to unresolved issues relating to land use public access, and the protection of coastal resources," the CLUP "whiteholed" Banning Ranch by designating it as a Deferred Certification Area "in order to avoid delay in certifying the balance of the LCP." (AR 3:925; 4:3260-3261.) However, the City had previously designated *all* of Banning Ranch as ESHA. (AR 10:23695

[City's 2002 study to assist Coastal Commission in designating ESHA on Banning Ranch].)

D. The Voters Approve the Plan for Banning Ranch's Future

To its credit, the City began the process of addressing these unresolved issues through a General Plan Update—its first comprehensive revision in more than thirty years. (AR 10:26214-26216.) This process gathered input from thousands of City residents and volunteers and included over four years of work by the General Plan Advisory Committee comprised of 38 residents representing all segments of the community. (*Id.*; AR 3:1565.) The result was "a 'Vision Statement' – a description of the City that residents want Newport Beach to be now and in 2025 – to serve as a blueprint for th[e] General Plan Update" and "ensure that the City achieves the vision" by doing fourteen specific things. (*Id.*)

One of those things was "[s]upporting efforts to acquire Banning Ranch for permanent open space." (Id.) The General Plan Update's Natural Resources Element noted Banning Ranch was one of 28 undeveloped areas within the City referred to as "Environmental Study Areas" ("ESAs"), and noted that "[t]he portions of the ESAs within the Coastal Zone that contain sensitive or rare species are referred to as [ESHAs] by the California Coastal Act." (AR 10:26780-26781.) Recognizing its "relatively high-quality wildlife habitat," the General Plan Update "prioritize[d] the acquisition of Banning

Ranch as an open space amenity for the community and region" and called for consolidating oil operations, restoring wetlands, providing nature education and interpretative facilities, and a park to serve residents. (AR 10:26244; 26302-26305.)

If acquisition was not ultimately successful, the General Plan Update's proposed Land Use Element allowed Banning Ranch to be developed as a residential village with a majority of the site to be preserved as open space. (AR 10:26305.) The policy for accomplishing this required "the preparation of a master development or specific plan for any development on the Banning Ranch specifying ... [a] habitat preservation and restoration plan." (AR 10:36309.)

Thus, under either scenario the proposed Land Use Element called for the restoration and enhancement of "wetlands and wildlife habitats in accordance with the requirements of state and federal agencies." (AR 10:26309-26310.) And under the specific action "Strategy" prescribed for accomplishing this, the proposed Land Use Element mandated the following:

LU 6.5.6 Coordination with State and Federal Agencies

Work with appropriate state and federal agencies to identify wetlands and habitats to be preserved and/or restored and those on which development will be permitted.

(*Id.*; bold in original.)

Since the City did not have a fully certified LCP, and thus could not issue a Coastal Development Permit ("CDP") for new development in the City, this requirement, together with other policies mandated in the General Plan Update, assured the active involvement of the Coastal Commission in shaping the form of any future development of Banning Ranch. (AR 4:3260; 5:4526.) The Council adopted the General Plan Update on July 25, 2006, and the voters approved it on November 25, 2006. (AR 4:3100.)

E. NBR's Proposal to Develop Banning Ranch

The party proposing to develop the project at issue in this action is Newport Banning Ranch, LLC, a limited liability company formed by the owners of Banning Ranch: Aera Energy, LLC, and Cherokee Newport Beach, LLC (collectively, "NBR"). (AR 4:3173.) On August 22, 2008, NBR submitted documents to the City proposing the development of 1,375 residential dwelling units, 75,000 square feet of commercial uses, and a 75-room resort on 149 acres of Banning Ranch as well as the construction of new vehicular access and an internal circulation system (the "Project"). (AR 4:3175-3178; 9:13707-13711.)

//

In compliance with General Plan Policy NR 10.9,² NBR noted it had "documented and mapped the extensive field survey work that the environmental team has done on potential special status habitats (potential ESHA), as demonstrated in the Biological Technical Report." (AR 9:13710.) Utilizing the City's CLUP criteria for determining the presence of ESHA on Banning Ranch, NBR's Biological Technical Report ("BTR") found a total of 33 acres of upland ESHA for which "application of the criteria that would allow rebutting the presumed ESHA status does not lead to a conclusion that the subject areas are not ESHA, and found the "majority of wetlands and/or riparian habitat" in the lowlands "are considered ESHA." (3 Appellant's Appendix ["AA"] 744.) Upland and lowland ESHAs were mapped in green and blue, respectively, on Exhibit 12 to the BTR's volume two. (3 AA 749; see also AR 10:46022 [Coastal Commission adopted same map].)

Recognizing that ESHA cannot be disturbed by development, the BTR noted the proposed Project was "designed to avoid all areas of ESHA ... and provide minimum setbacks of at least 50 feet" except for at total of 0.08 acres

NR 10.9 Development on Banning Ranch

Protect the sensitive and rare resources that occur on Banning Ranch. If future development is permitted, require that an assessment be prepared by a qualified biologist that delineates sensitive and rare habitat and wildlife corridors. Require that development be concentrated to protect biological resources and coastal bluffs, and structures designed to not be intrusive on the surrounding landscape. Require the restoration or mitigation of any sensitive or rare habitat areas that are affected by future development. (AR 10:26504, 26800; NBR's requested edit in italics)

of potential scrub and riparian ESHAs. (3 AA 745-746.) The BTR also disclosed that the largest area of upland ESHA was in the northeast corner of Banning Ranch. (*Id.*) Therefore, in order to avoid disturbing this large mass of ESHA, NBR's development plan terminated the proposed Bluff Road at 17th Street and did not extend it across that ESHA to 19th Street. (3 AA 755-756; see also AR 10:36559.) However, since this extension was in the County's Master Plan of Arterial Highways and the City's Master Plan of Streets and Highways, NBR noted that its Project would require an amendment to both plans to "[d]elete the segment between 17th Street and 19th Street." (3 AA 757.)

F. The City Ignores the Major ESHA Problem NBR Found and Requires NBR to Literally Pave Over It

Ironically, NBR's compliance with Policy NR 10.9 caused a big problem for City Council members who wanted to use NBR's project as a way to extend Bluff Road across this ESHA to 19th Street. In what appears to be a violation of the Ralph M. Brown Act,³ on January 15, 2009, Mayor Edward Selich sent an email to Council members Steve Rosansky and Don Webb recounting his meeting with Mr. Webb at which they agreed on Banning

Gov. Code § 54950 et seq.; see Clark v. City of Hermosa Beach (1996) 48 Cal.App.4th 1152, 1167 [council member's private discussions with other council members violated the Brown Act]; see also 84 Cal.Ops.Atty.Gen. 30, 31, 32 (2001) [use of e-mails by a majority of board members to exchange facts, advance or clarify a member's understanding of an issue, or advance the ultimate resolution of an issue regarding an agenda item violates Gov. Code § 54952.2].

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