IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BANNING RANCH CONSERVANCY, Plaintiff and Appellant,

SUPREME COURT

v.

FEB - 9 2016

CITY OF NEWPORT BEACH, et al., Defendants and Appellants,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

NEWPORT BANNING RANCH LLC, et al., Real Parties in Interest and Appellants.

Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Three Case No. G049691

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California For the County of Orange, The Honorable Robert Louis Becking, Temporary Judge. Case No. 30-2012-00593557

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

relied on Lukos' work. (AR:879, 1170, 3563, 3605, 3641, 4447.) There was no attempt to hide the original report; the EIR references the report repeatedly. (Compare OBM at p. 45 ["EIR's failure to mention" Lukos report] with AR:1503, 1505, 1157-1158, 1720, 2131, 2139, 2140, 2213, 2459, 2464, 2473, 2474 [EIR references to Lukos work].)

BRC does not argue the omission of the 2008 Lukos Report undermined the EIR's analysis of biological resources. Indeed, BRC cannot make such an argument, since the 2008 Lukos Report contains the same survey data available elsewhere in the record.

BRC's only argument is that the EIR was flawed because it failed to include the 2008 Lukos Report's *ESHA* conclusions. But those conclusions were based on the inapplicable CLUP. BRC cites the report's graphics (OBM at p. 46), but the same figure appears elsewhere in the record (AR:46022).¹⁰

BRC's argument boils down to the assertion that the EIR ought to have discussed a report that applied the wrong plan to reach conclusions that are themselves misleading and erroneous—because BRC liked the graphics. Nothing in CEQA obliged the City to perpetuate a consultant's mistake. (*Save the Plastic Bag Coalition v. City of Manhattan Beach* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 155, 175 [common sense "is an important consideration at all levels of CEQA review."].)¹¹ In sum, the document was never hidden from the public,

BRC states the CCC "adopted" this map, presumably to designate ESHA. (OBM at p. 13.) This statement is false. The map is an exhibit to a CCC staff report; the CCC did not "adopt" it. (AR:45864-46326.)

BRC mischaracterizes what occurred during the litigation regarding the contents of the record. BRC states that it asked the City to include the 2008 Lukos Report in the record, but that the City refused. This statement is incorrect. BRC asked the City to include a different report—the 2008 "Community Development Plan"—in the record.

was subject to public review, was referenced in the EIR, and was part of the record available to the appellate court. (*BRC-II*, *supra*, slip op. at p. 11, fn. 10; see § 21005, subd. (b); *Neighbors for Smart Rail*, *supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 463 [flaw in EIR caused no prejudice].)

C. The EIR analyzed fully the Project's potential to impact biological resources; CEQA does not require that the EIR speculate about what ESHA determinations the CCC might make in the future.

CEQA requires that the EIR analyze the potential for a project to impact the physical environment, and identify ways in which those impacts can be avoided or mitigated. (§ 21002.1.) BRC does not point out any way in which the EIR failed to satisfy these requirements. Instead, BRC argues the City did not comply with CEQA because the EIR did not determine what portions of the Project site constitute ESHA as defined in the Coastal Act. (OBM at p. 47.) BRC's argument fails.

"... '[T]he purpose of an [EIR] is to provide public agencies and the public in general with detailed information about the effect which a proposed project is likely to have on the environment; to list ways in which the significant effects of a project might

⁽⁴⁻AA-1005.) The record already included the 2011 Community Development Plan, and the 2011 plan was the source of the analysis for environmental review. (4-AA-1033.) BRC insists that it demanded that the City include the 2008 plan; the City asserts that BRC did not make such a demand, and failed to respond to the City's repeated queries. (4-AA-823-825; 5-AA-1254.) BRC never asked the city to include the "2008 Biological Technical Report" in the record. (5-AA-1254.) The trial court record shows a skirmish occurred about BRC's belated attempt to augment the record with the 2008 report. The trial court criticized BRC's tactics as untimely and abusive. (5-AA-1276-1277.) Ultimately, the dispute, while unpleasant, was immaterial; the document was part of the record available on appeal, and the Fourth District's decision did not turn on this issue. (BRC-II, supra, slip op. at p. 11, fn. 10.)

be minimized; and to indicate alternatives to such a project." (Laurel Heights, supra, 47 Cal.3d at p. 391, quoting § 21061, CEQA Guidelines, § 15003, subds. (b)-(e).) In Neighbors for Smart Rail, supra, this Court described the "the fundamental goal of an EIR" as "to inform decision makers and the public of any significant adverse effects a project is likely to have on the physical environment." The EIR must therefore "delineate environmental conditions prevailing absent the project, defining a 'baseline' against which predicted effects can be described and quantified." (57 Cal.4th at p. 447.)

Here, there is no dispute that the EIR describes environmental resources present at the site, and analyzes the Project's impacts on those resources. The EIR identifies existing biological resources (AR:3558-3675), cataloguing existing vegetative types (e.g., AR:3566-3578), wildlife (e.g., AR:3578-3581), and special-status biological resources such as endangered species (e.g., AR:3581-3605, 3180, 3596.) The EIR identifies 16 mitigation measures to address the Project's impacts. (AR:3610-3663.) The EIR concludes that, as mitigated, all significant impacts to biological resources would be avoided. (AR:3663, 743-770.) The analysis is based on a 500+ page biological technical report included as an appendix to the EIR. (AR:6484-7006.) BRC does not point to any errors in this analysis.

Instead, BRC argues the EIR had to make a legal and factual determination under the Coastal Act, specifically whether certain habitat on the Project site constitutes ESHA. (OBM at pp. 47-48.) BRC is wrong.

Noncompliance with CEQA's information disclosure provisions that "precludes relevant information from being presented to the public agency ... may constitute a

prejudicial abuse of discretion." (§ 21005, subd. (a), emphasis added.) Such compliance mandates that "an agency must use its best efforts to find out and disclose all that it reasonably can" when preparing an EIR. (Laurel Heights, supra, 47 Cal.3d at p. 399.) "Absolute perfection is not required," and the level of analysis in an EIR "is subject to a rule of reason." (Id. at pp. 406-407.) The absence of information in an EIR does not necessarily constitute a prejudicial abuse of discretion. (§ 21005, subd. (b).) After all, as BRC correctly notes, EIRs are supposed to be analytic, not encyclopedic. (OBM at p. 46; CEQA Guidelines, ¹² §§ 15006, subd. (o), 15143 [focus on significant effects on the environment].) For these reasons, a "challenger ... asserting inadequacies in an EIR must show the omitted information 'is both required by CEQA and necessary to informed discussion." (Citizens for a Sustainable Treasure Island v. City and County of San Francisco (2014) 227 Cal. App. 4th 1036, 1046-1047; see Rialto Citizens for Responsible Growth v. City of Rialto (2012) 208 Cal. App. 4th 899, 925 ["[a] prejudicial abuse of discretion occurs if the failure to include relevant information precludes informed decisionmaking and informed public participation, thereby thwarting the statutory goals of the EIR process."].)

The EIR analyzed, disclosed and mitigated the *environmental implications* of the Project, thereby satisfying CEQA. BRC fails to demonstrate the City had a further legal duty to identify ESHA as part of this process. Under the legal standards adopted by the Legislature, a court should not find that the omission of information amounts to a failure to proceed "in a manner required by law," unless the petitioner can point to a clear legal

The "CEQA Guidelines" appear at title 14, Cal. Code Regs., § 15000 et seq.

duty that the agency has violated. (§§ 21168.5 ["Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in a manner *required by law*," emphasis added], 21083.1; CEQA Guidelines, § 15204, subd. (a) ["lead agencies need only respond to significant environmental issues and do not need to provide all information requested by reviewers, as long as a good faith effort at full disclosure is made in the EIR."].) "The relevant inquiry here is not whether the record establishes compliance" but whether the record shows that the agency "failed to comply" with CEQA's requirements. (*Gilroy Citizens for Responsible Planning v. City of Gilroy* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 911, 919, emphasis in original.)

The EIR provided the statutory definition of ESHA, and described the CCC's role in deciding what constitutes ESHA on the property. (AR:872, 873, 3103, 3261.) CCC staff agreed, reiterating that the ultimate determination is vested with the CCC itself, and that the CCC will make the ultimate call based on "site specific circumstances" once CCC staff "performs a formal ESHA delineation for the site." (AR:914.)

The EIR's description of ESHA and the CCC's permitting authority is accurate. "ESHA" is not a particular kind of habitat, but is defined under the Coastal Act as "any area in which plant or animal life or their habitats are either rare or especially valuable because of their special nature or role in an ecosystem and which could be easily disturbed or degraded by human activities and developments." (§ 30107.5.) While identified ESHA must be protected from degradation (§ 30240, subd. (a)), the CCC has discretion to determine whether any particular habitat is ESHA. (*Bolsa Chica Land Trust v. Superior Court* (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 493, 508 ["in deciding whether a particular area

is an ESHA within the meaning of section 30107.5, [the CCC] may consider, among other matters, its viability."]. But see *Dunn v. County of Santa Barbara* (2006) 135 Cal.App.4th 1281, 1297, fn. 7 [questioning this analysis].)

The record shows the CCC's practice aligns with both the EIR and *Bolsa Chica*. (AR:873, 46412 [ESHA determination based on habitat type, condition, fragmentation status, location, etc.; degraded status may render habitat non-ESHA], 46417 [rejecting notion that all coastal sage scrub is ESHA].)

Recognizing that the City had no authority to designate ESHA on its own, CCC staff suggested the City "determin[e] *probable* ESHA." (AR:914, emphasis added.) The Final EIR responded that predicting where the CCC would find "ESHA" on the property involved speculation about what decisions the CCC would make in the future. "To what extent these areas constitute ESHA—a concept unique to the Coastal Act—is a finding within the discretion of the [CCC], or a local agency as part of its LCP certification process. ... [That finding is] within the discretion and authority of the [CCC] when this Project comes before them." (AR:874-875.) The EIR further noted that speculating about what might constitute ESHA would not bind the CCC or even "elucidate" what determinations the CCC might ultimately make. (AR:872.) In other words, such speculation would not aid the CCC decision-makers in reaching their ESHA determination, nor would it aid the public in understanding the environmental impacts of the project.

CEQA does not require an agency to speculate. (CEQA Guidelines, § 15145; In re

Bay-Delta Programmatic Environmental Impact Report Coordinated Proceedings (2008)

43 Cal.4th 1143, 1172 [CEQA does not require program EIR to speculate about impacts of future, project-specific components of program]; *Citizens for a Sustainable Treasure Island, supra*, 227 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1058-1059 [speculation not required]; *Environmental Council of Sacramento v. City of Sacramento* (2006) 142 Cal.App.4th 1018, 1031 [same].) Indeed, the court in *BRC-I* rejected the exact same argument. There, BRC argued the city had to identify ESHA in an EIR prepared for the adjacent Sunset Ridge Park. The court held that the city was not required to speculate about whether the CCC would find ESHA on site. The city merely had to identify potential inconsistencies with the Coastal Act, which it did. (*BRC-I*, *supra*, 211 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1233-1234.)

In this case, the appellate court observed that although the City opted not to "speculate" about "potential ESHA," the City did flag potential inconsistencies with the Coastal Act by noting that the CLUP did not apply, and that the CCC would make the ultimate call about whether ESHA was present on the site. As the court explained, "CEQA does not require the City to prognosticate as to the likelihood of ESHA determinations" during CCC's review under the Coastal Act. (BRC-II, supra, slip op. at pp. 30-31.)

The appellate court was right. "[T]he fundamental goal of an EIR is to inform decision makers and the public of any significant adverse effects a project is likely to have on the physical environment." (*Neighbors for Smart Rail, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 447.) Thus, in *Chaparral Greens, supra*, the court declined to require further environmental review simply because of a change in a species' legal status under the Endangered Species Act. Because the EIR evaluated fully the project's impact on the

species, the listing decision itself had "no bearing on the impact of the project." (50 Cal.App.4th at p. 1149; see *Moss v. County of Humboldt* (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 1041, 1065 [change in legal status of species did not, in itself, affect analysis]; *Fort Mojave Indian Tribe v. California Department of Health Services* (1995) 38 Cal.App.4th 1574, 1605-1606 [designation of "critical habitat" under Endangered Species Act was not "significant new information" where EIR analyzed physical impacts to species and its habitat]; §§ 21060.5 ["Environment' means the physical conditions which exist within the area which will be affected by a proposed project"], 21002.1, subd. (a) ["The purpose of an environmental impact report is to identify the significant effects on the environment of a project"].)

Here, the EIR focused on the physical impacts of the Project. (*BRC-II*, *supra*, slip op. at pp. 28-31.) That satisfied CEQA.

The record suggests that the outcome of the CCC permitting process is uncertain.¹³ The City's 2006 General Plan Update calls for extending Bluff Road through the property. The General Plan states the City will extend this roadway, regardless of whether or how Banning Ranch is developed. (AR:26674, 36564, 26696; see *BRC-I*, *supra*, 211 Cal.App.4th at p. 1217.) ESHA may be present in areas traversed by this extension. (AR:13801-13810, 914-915.) The Coastal Act places limits on whether

The same could be said of the adjacent Sunset Ridge Park. There, the City modified the park to obtain a permit from the CCC. (*BRC-I*, *supra*, 211 Cal.App.4th at p. 1225, fn. 6.)

development can disturb ESHA. (§ 30240, subd. (a); *Bolsa Chica*, *supra*, 71 Cal.App.4th at pp. 506-507.)

BRC portrays these facts as posing an insurmountable problem. (OBM at pp. 14-16.) At this point, however, there is no way to know whether BRC's portrayal is accurate. Perhaps the CCC will conclude the area affected by the road extension does not contain ESHA. Perhaps the CCC will conclude the roadway is a "use dependent on those resources," or that "on balance" the coastal access provided by the roadway is more protective of coastal resources such that the disturbance of ESHA is permissible. (§§ 30240, subd. (a), 30007.5.) As the *BRC-I* Court observed in identical circumstances, "[t]hat remains to be seen." (211 Cal.App.4th at p. 1234.) Even if the agencies ultimately do not agree, however, that is no basis for invalidating the EIR. (*CNPS*, *supra*, 172 Cal.App.4th at pp. 638-639; *North Coast Rivers Alliance v. Marin Municipal Water Dist. Bd. of Directors* (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 614, 643 [disagreement regarding water sampling did not invalidate agency's conclusions].)

Finally, even if there were a duty to speculate about the CCC's future permitting decisions (there is no such duty), BRC has not shown, and cannot show, prejudice. (§ 21005, subd. (b); *Neighbors for Smart Rail, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 463.) After all, as the EIR makes clear, the Project requires a CDP from the CCC, and development cannot occur until after the CCC has its say. (AR:872-875.)

III. BRC'S Coastal Act Arguments

BRC peppers its brief with arguments based on Coastal Act case law and statutes.

These arguments are both misleading and irrelevant.

A. BRC-II does not conflict with Douda v. California Coastal Com.

BRC argues that, under *Douda v. California Coastal Com.* (2008) 159
Cal.App.4th 1181 (*Douda*), the City had both the power and duty to designate ESHA on the property. (OBM at pp. 48-50.)

Because BRC did not raise this argument at trial or on appeal, this Court need not consider it. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1); *Associated Builders and Contractors, Inc. v. San Francisco Airports Com.* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 352, 366, fn. 2.) Moreover, *Douda* is a Coastal Act case; this case is not. (*BRC-II*, *supra*, slip op. at pp. 22-23, fn. 13; see 1-AA-1-22.)

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